
 

 

 

 

INCOME GENERATION SUB-

COMMITTEE 

 

AGENDA 

 

 Date: Wednesday, 9th June, 2021 

 Time: 7.00 pm 

 Venue: 
 

Guildhall 

 
 



2 

INCOME GENERATION SUB-COMMITTEE  
 

Information for Members of the Public 
 
Please note that this is a public meeting, conducting in person at the Guildhall, Worcester, between 

invited participants and live streamed for general access by audio and video via the Council’s website. 

Due to the current Covid 19 pandemic, access to the building where the meeting is being held is being 

restricted to councillors and a small number of supporting officers. Members of the public who wish to 

participate will be invited to join the meeting via remote means. 

 

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public. You can listen or watch a live stream of the 

meeting via the City Council website www.worcester.gov.uk/councillors-democracy. You have the right 

to inspect electronic copies of Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background 

documents used in the preparation of these reports. Details of the background papers appear at the 

foot of each report. Part II of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 'Exempt Information' for 

which it is anticipated that the public may be excluded from the meeting and neither reports nor 

background papers are open to public inspection. 

 

Members of the public and press are permitted to report on the proceedings. "Reporting" in the context 

of this meeting includes making a recording of the live streamed content and providing commentary on 

proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the proceedings, including the 

internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. 

 

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is allowed 

for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter on the 

Agenda. Public participation will be via remote means and will extend to video and/or audio 

participation or written submission read aloud at the appropriate point in the meeting by the Chair. 

Participants need to indicate that they wish to take part via remote means by 4.30p.m. on the last 

working day before the meeting by telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned below. A Democratic 

Services Officer will then contact to advise how to participate by remote means, by invitation. Requests 

to participate received later than this cut-off time may not be accommodated. 

 

If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the City Council, he/she will be deemed to 

have given their consent to being recorded and the video and audio being published live to the 

Council’s website. The Chair of the meeting, can at their discretion, terminate or suspend recording, if 

in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if they consider 

that continued recording might infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any statutory provision. 

 

If you have any queries about this Agenda, require any details of background papers, or wish to 

discuss the arrangements for public participation please contact Julian Pugh, Democratic Services 

Administrator, Democratic Services, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY.  Telephone: 01905 722027 (direct 

line); E-Mail Address:  committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk  

 

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic 

minority languages. Please contact the above-named officer for further information. 

 

 



3 

Income Generation Sub-Committee 
Wednesday, 9 June 2021 

 

Members of the Committee:- 

 

Chairman: Councillor Steve Mackay (C) 
Vice-Chairman: Councillor Jabba Riaz (L) 

 
Councillor Chris Mitchell (C) 

Councillor Andy Stafford (C) 
 

Councillor Louis Stephen (G) 

 

 

  

C= Conservative G = Green L = Labour LCo = Labour and Co-operative  
LD = Liberal Democrat 

 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1 
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC) 

 

1. Appointment of Substitutes  

 To receive details of any Members appointed to attend the meeting instead of a 
Member of the Sub-Committee. 

 

2. Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of interest. 

 

3. Public Participation  

 Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be allowed, each speaker being allocated a 

maximum of five minutes, for members of the public to present a petition, ask a 
question or comment on any matter on the Agenda or within the remit of the Sub-
Committee. 

 

4. Minutes  

Page(s): 1 - 4 

 Of the meeting held on 11th March 2021 to be approved and signed. 
 

5. Annual / Quarter 4 Performance Report For 2020/21  

Page(s): 5 - 14 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Mark Baldwin, Head of Finance 

Tel: 01905 722007 

 That the Income Generation Sub-Committee notes the Council’s annual and 

quarter 4 performance for 2020/21. 
 

6. Bereavement Services  

Page(s): 15 - 18 

Ward(s): All Wards 



4 

Contact Officer:  Mark Baldwin, Head of Finance 
Tel: 01905 722007 

 That the Committee note the progress made by Bereavement Services in 
enhancing the service provided to customers. 

 

7. Any Other Business  

 Which in the opinion of the Chairman is of sufficient urgency as to warrant 
consideration. 

 



INCOME GENERATION SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
11th March 2021 

 
Present:  
 

Councillor Jabba Riaz in the Chair 

 Councillors Agar, Bayliss, Mackay (Vice-
Chair) and Mitchell 

 
Officers: Mark Baldwin, Head of Finance 

Shane Flynn, Corporate Director – Finance 

and Resources 
 

29 Appointment of Substitutes  
 
None. 

 
30 Declarations of Interest  

 
None. 
 

31 Public Participation  
 

None. 
 

32 Minutes  

 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 28th January 2021 be 

approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

33 Proposed Committee Performance Scorecard for 2021/22  

 
The Sub-Committee considered the proposed content of the Income Generation 

Performance Scorecard for 2021/22. The Corporate Director – Finance and 
Resources presented the report and summarised the main points. 
 

In summary, the key Projects and Activities for 2021/22 were: 
 

 Commercial Strategy delivery    
 Income Strategy delivery  

 Sports facilities development   
 
The following 2020/21 Projects and Activities had been removed for the reasons 

stated: 
 

 Guildhall Marketing and Promotion (now completed) 
 Riverside Park Improvements (now part of Towns Fund project) 

 

One new project was proposed for 2021/2022: 
 

 Housing Development Company – Feasibility Assessment 
 
Reference was made to The Key Performance Indicators. It was explained that 

budgets had been set at the same level as pre-Covid and the government’s 
compensation scheme would apply for the first quarter.  

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



 11th March 2021 2 

 
 

 

Officers responded to questions from Sub-Committee Members. It was explained 
that the current year budget Trade Waste Collection is far short of the forecast 

due to so many businesses being closed or operating a reduced service. The 
proposed income target for 2021/22 should be achievable assuming a return to 
normal trading. Performance will also benefit from the introduction of pay by 

weight and the fact that there is a new large customer.  
 

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee agree the proposed content of the 
Income Generation Performance Scorecard for 2021/22. 
 

34 Local Authority Development Company  
 

The Sub-Committee considered a report on how the Council can support the 
development of private sector housing and properties to let at market rents. The 
Corporate Director – Finance and Resources presented the report and explained 

the background to this piece of work, which supported the decision of the 
Communities Committee to  engage specialist housing advice to help the Council 

identify how it can best intervene in the provision of social and affordable housing 
within Worcester. The Council would need to consider the best vehicle for housing 
delivery, which could include a Development Company established to operate on a 

commercial basis but with objectives to deliver mixed tenure developments to suit 
the Council’s dual objectives of increasing social housing and securing a return on 

its investments. For this reason the Sub-Committee were asked to consider 
authorising the engagement of specialist strategic housing advice. 

 
Members of both this Sub-Committee and the Communities Committee would be 
engaged in reviewing the findings. 

 
In the ensuing discussion, Sub-Committee Members expressed the view that, 

whilst there is a balance to be achieved, the Council should not lose sight of the 
income generation aspect of any proposal for housing development. Reference 
was also made to the potential risk associated with any development and learning 

from example. 
 

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee agree to: 
 
1. approve the engagement of specialist strategic housing advice to 

work with the Council in order to identify the most effective role the 
Council can play in order to respond to local development needs; and 

 
2. approves the allocation of up to £10,000 from the Income Generation 

Fund in order to fund this work. 

 
35 Real Estate Investment Trusts (REIT)  

 
The Sub-Committee considered a report on real estate investment trusts (REITs). 
The Head of Finance presented the report and explained that, as part of the 

2021/22 budget settlement, HM Treasury had announced that it intends to 
prevent local authorities from using PWLB loans to invest directly in properties 

purely for the purposes of generating income. The Council therefore needed to 
continue to identify forms of investment that will provide income streams in 
excess of the rates achievable through cash investments. 

Page 2



 11th March 2021 3 

 
 

 

The report set out the benefits of REITs to investors and some of the conditions 
that a REIT needs to satisfy. The proposal was to carry out a review of investment 

opportunities with a range of REITs in order to gain the benefits of their tax 
advantages and also to increase the diversification of the Council’s investment 
portfolio. 

 
Sub-Committee Members expressed support for the proposal. Members 

considered this to be a reasonably secure investment.  
 
RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee note the proposal to extend the 

Council’s investment instruments to include real estate investment trusts. 
 

36 Any Other Business  
 
None. 

 
 

 
Duration of the meeting: 7.00p.m. – 7.42p.m. 
 

 
 

 
Chair at the meeting on 

9th June 2021 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 
 

Report to: Income Generation Sub-Committee, 9th June 2021 
 

Report of: Corporate Director, Finance and Resources 
 

 
Subject: ANNUAL / QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR 2020/21 

 
1. Recommendation 
 

1.1 That the Income Generation Sub-Committee notes the Council’s annual and 
quarter 4 performance for 2020/21. 

 
2. Performance Reporting Framework 

 
2.1 A suite of Performance Scorecards has been developed providing a one page 

overview of priority projects, activities and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) under 

the functions of each committee. 
 

2.2 The Scorecards are supported by a more detailed appendix providing a brief 
narrative update for projects and activities and a visual representation of PIs in the 
form of run graphs or charts as applicable. This provides context in terms of 

progression, trends and seasonal variations to support reporting using RAG 
assessments (Red, Amber or Green). 

 
2.3 The Scorecard has been refreshed for 2020/21 with projects completed in the last 

financial year replaced with new projects as previously agreed by this committee. 

 
2.4 The annual and quarter 4 performance report for the Income Generation Sub-

Committee is attached as Appendix 1.   
 

 

 
Ward(s):   All 

Contact Officer:   Mark Baldwin, Head of Finance  
   Email: mark.baldwin@worcester.gov.uk  
Background Papers: None 

Page 5 Agenda Item 5

mailto:mark.baldwin@worcester.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix 1



2 
 

Income Generation Committee 

Performance Report 
 
 

Income Generation Projects and Actions 2020/21 
 
 

Action Status 

 Cancelled 

 Overdue; Neglected 

 Unassigned; Check Progress 

 Not Started; In Progress; Assigned 

 Completed 
 

  

 

Commercial Strategy delivery 

The Commercial Strategy is being revised in the light of the 
Treasury decision not to allow PWLB loans to be used for 

property acquisitions purely for the purposes of generating 
income. These will be produced for the July Committee. 

 
There is one proposal still under consideration as a 
development asset. Estate surveyors have been appointed 

to assess the suitability of the site for development but have 
not been able to access the property because of the closure 

of a number of businesses at the site due to Covid 
restrictions. 
 

The Council has been award £18m for the Future High 
Street Fund proposals which will enable substantial 

investment which will provide a return over time. A project 
manager has been appointed and a process of acquisitions 

is underway. 
 
The Towns Fund projects have been defined and a 

submission was made at the end of January. This includes 
schemes which relate to the Council's ambitions in relation 

to the Riverside and maximising the value of the estate, 
including community centres. 
 

During Q4 a property opposite Foregate Street Station was 
acquired as part of the Arches Worcester project. Leases for 

two adjacent properties were also acquired as part of this 
deal which will provide revenue income. 

Sponsor Mark Baldwin 

Due Date 31-Mar-2022 

Original Due 

Date 

31-Mar-2022 

Current Status  

Expected 
Outcome  

 

Appendix 1 

Page 8



3 
 

 

Income Strategy Delivery 

Delivery against the income strategy continues to be 
affected by the Covid disruption and wider economic impact. 
There is a risk, for example, that income from car parking 

will not return to pre-2020 levels due to employees working 
remotely rather than travelling into the city centre and 

parking all day and from increased internet shopping. The 
latter will have a knock- on effect on business rates too. 
Budgeted Income from Bereavement Services has been 

reduced in line with expected loss of share of this business. 
 

The conclusion of the PWLB loans consultation means that 
planned income of c.£500k p.a. will now not be achieved 
from this source and an alternative source of income needs 

to be identified, or costs reduced accordingly. Income from 
properties purchased before the change, however, remains 

secure. Developments in the FHSF and Towns Fund 
investment programmes may represent a source of income 
for the Council in future and this is to be taken into account 

in the development of the schemes. 
 

The Income Strategy will be reviewed alongside the 
Commercial Strategy in 2021/22. It is therefore proposed to 
amend the due date for this project to 31 March 2022. 

Sponsor Shane Flynn 

Due Date 31-Mar-2021 

Original Due 
Date 

31-Mar-2021 

Current Status  

Expected 

Outcome  

 

 

Sports facilities 

Work on the International Hockey Centre has continued and  

it is now anticipated that the centre will be open in autumn 
of 2021. The pitches themselves have been laid and the 

work is now concentrating on the facilities. 
 
Freedom Leisure have established the new tennis service 

which is now operational and new arrangements are being 
introduced to increase free access at popular times of day. 

 
The Council has continued to support swimming provision 

through a grant to the Worcester Citizens Swimming Baths 
Association, which his funded from the Transformation Fund 
established to support the recovery from Covid. This is 

generating a small amount of income for the Council in 
terms of the loan provided in 2019/20, as is the loan to the 

FA to support the return of Worcester City FC to the city at 
the FA's Claines Lane ground. 
 

A report on the potential uses of the worn-out five-a-side 
pitches adjacent to Perdiswell Leisure Centre will be 

provided during 2021. 
 
It is therefore proposed that the due date for this project is 

amended to 31 December 2021. 

Sponsor Shane Flynn 

Due Date 30-Nov-2020 

Original Due 
Date 

31-Mar-2019 

Current Status  

Expected 
Outcome  

 

Page 9



4 
 

 

Riverside Park Improvements to maintain and enhance Green Flag status 

Opportunities for significant expansion of the Riverside 
Improvements Project have been identified to support the 
Towns Fund objectives for the ‘Riverside as a Destination’. 

 
 The following actions are being progressed: 

 

• A Briefing document has been prepared that details 

the location and extent of potential improvements.  

• A Design Guide for the park to include a range of 

street furniture, paving materials and colours to be 
adopted for use within the park to help strengthen its 
identity.  

• Design work on a new suite of park signage.  

• Updated interpretation for St Andrew’s Church Tower.  

• Proposals for the painting of the riverside railings at 

Le Vesinet Gardens.  

• Pursue external funding via the Natural Networks 

Scheme for enhancing the biodiversity of the park 
and managing invasive plant species on the river 
banks.  

 
 Project proposals will be finalised to ensure a consistent 

approach between connecting and adjacent projects 
following announcement of the Government’s decision on 
the Towns Fund application. It is recommended to amend 

the project completion date to 31 March 2022. 
 

Sponsor Phil Gilmour 

Due Date 31-Mar-2021 

Original Due 
Date 

30-Sep-2020 

Current Status  

Expected 

Outcome  

 

 
 

Page 10



5 

Income Generation Key Performance Indicators 2020/21 
 

PI Status 

 Alert 

 Warning 

 OK 

 Unknown 

 Data Only 
 

 

Riverside - project related income 

 

Current Value £10,000 

Current Target £10,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

The income relates to the riverside café and sports facilities. 
 

Guildhall - project related income 

 

Current Value £5,000 

Current Target £90,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

The Guildhall is ready to restart staging events. The rest of 2021 is well booked mainly with 

rebookings from last year and with new enquiries starting to come in again. 

Page 11



6 

 

Trade Waste collection - project related income 

 

Current Value £549,000 

Current Target £808,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

The reduced income reflects the fact that many businesses have been closed for several 

months of the year or have operated at a reduced level requiring fewer waste collections. 
 

Garden Waste collection - project related income 

 

Current Value £508,000 

Current Target £469,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

The number of new accounts has continued to exceed budget and last year, partly due to the 
local recycling centres being closed for some of the lockdown and being very busy when 
open. 
 

Property Investment Fund - project related income 

 

Current Value £890,400 

Current Target £902,800 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

Income fell short of budget as economic conditions resulted in the rent review being settled 

at less than originally budgeted. 

Page 12



7 

 

Car Parks - income - key revenue streams 

 

Current Value £1,285,000 

Current Target £3,338,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

Income is significantly below budget due to the pandemic. It increased during Q2 and Q3 but 

fell back in Q4 and is well below budget and last year.  
 

Bereavement - income - key revenue streams 

 

Current Value £1,635,000 

Current Target £1,720,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

Income is 4.5% below budget and 5.2% greater than last year. The pandemic has caused an 
increase in the death rate. However this has also resulted in shorter services and reduced 
fees. The increased local competition also remains a factor in the reduced income level 

compared to previous years. 
 

Development Management - income - key revenue streams 

 

Current Value £641,000 

Current Target £705,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

Income is 9% below budget, aided by the receipt of some large planning applications in 
August, including Lowesmoor Wharf, which were worth £103k. 

Page 13



8 

 

Neighbourhood - income - key revenue streams 

 

Current Value £246,000 

Current Target £380,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

Income is only 65% of the budget. In addition to the reduced activity during the lockdown, 

the services provided to the County Council have been scaled back and repriced, which will 
mean that income is likely continue at this lower level. 
 
 
  

Page 14



 

 
 

Report to: Income Generation Sub-Committee, 9th June 2021 
 

Report of: Head of Finance 
 

 
Subject: BEREAVEMENT SERVICES 

 
1. Recommendation 

 

1.1 That the Sub-Committee note the progress made by Bereavement Services 
in enhancing the service provided to customers. 

 
2. Background 

 
2.1 The City Council Bereavement Service offers a cremation service at Astwood 

crematorium and burials at Astwood and St Johns cemeteries. The crematorium was 

refurbished in 2015 and performs approximately 2,000 cremations per annum and 
serves customers from both the city and outlying areas. 

2.2 In 2018/19 the Service generated income of £2.0m. However, following the opening 
of the new crematorium at Fladbury, the number of funerals held by the City Council 
reduced and the income generated fell to £1.5m. 

2.3 The Covid-19 pandemic had a significant effect on the Service, causing an increase 
in the number of funerals and also restricting the number of mourners able to 

attend. The graph below shows the number of funerals held each week from January 
2020 to January 2021. The spikes in April 2020 and January 2021 correspond with 
the periods of national lockdown when the pandemic was at its height. 

 

2.4 A similar picture is shown by this graph which compares the number of deaths linked 

to Covid as opposed to other causes. The Covid impact is again shown in April 2020 
and January 2021. 

Page 15 Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

2.5 The Bereavement Service responded by the reducing the length of funeral services 

from 45 to 30 minutes and lowering the charges accordingly. 

2.6 The crematorium at Fladbury continues to attract customers who were previously 
likely to use Astwood. The graph below shows the number of cremations at each site 

during January and February 2021. This shows that over this two month period, 
Fladbury held 40% of the combined 498 funerals. 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



 

2.7 The trend for the income generated from Bereavement Services has been as follows:
  

Year Income 
£’000 

Notes 

2017/18 1,932  

2018/19 2,022  

2019/20 1,542 24% reduction following Fladbury opening in Dec 2018 

2020/21 1,684 Affected by Covid-19 pandemic 

 

3. Information  

 
3.1 A new Business Development Manager was appointed in Bereavement Services in 

February 2020 with the aim of enhancing the Service’s offer. 

3.2 Previously information on the Council’s bereavement services was held on the City 

Council’s website. However, in 2021 a new standalone website was launched.  

https://www.worcestercemeteries.co.uk 

This holds a wealth of information on the crematorium and the cemeteries to help 

customers with planning a funeral. There are many high quality photographs of the 
building and the surrounding gardens. During the month of April the website had 

over 2,000 visits. 

3.3 Although funerals are arranged through a funeral director, families usually purchase 
memorials directly. The City Council has sold memorials for several years, with 

customers generally needing to visit the Astwood site to review the availability. 
However, the range on offer is now shown on the website and can be ordered on-

line. 

3.4 The memorial offer has also been extended to include innovative ways of families 
remembering their loved ones. An example of this is the new memorial tree. This is a 

metallic tree on which families can hang a decorative metallic leaf bearing the name 
of the deceased. This represents a cost-effective memorial when compared to the 

larger more expensive items that are also available. Sales of these are currently 
averaging 4 per month. 

3.5 Customers are also to be given the opportunity to store the ashes of the deceased 

above ground in a new large memorial that will from the centre piece of a new 
garden of tranquility. Theis will include seating to allow families the opportunity for a 

period of quiet reflection.  

3.6 A further new garden area is being created with a memorial to remember those who 
have died from Covid-19. 

3.7 Memorial income has grown in recent years and it is hoped that these new 
developments will continue that trend. 

Page 17

https://www.worcestercemeteries.co.uk/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
Ward(s):   All 

Contact Officer: Mark Baldwin, email mark.baldwin@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: None  

 

Year Memorial 
Income 

£’000 

Notes 

2018/19 97.6  

2019/20 103.4  

2020/21 110.1 Assisted by the launch of the new website 

Page 18


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Annual / Quarter 4 Performance Report For 2020/21
	202021IG Q4-Annual Performance Report Final

	6 Bereavement Services

